RECEIVED

Jan 04 2024

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

**Appeal from Greenville County
Circuit Court**

Letitia H. Verdin, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-000440

Kevin Dwayne Chavis,Appellant,

v.

Vansy Saensane and Ra Cha, Inc., D/B/A Bangkok Tokyo Restaurant A/K/A Bangkok Thai
Restaurant,Respondents.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Daniel L. Draisen, SC Bar # 13536
The Injury Law Firm, P.C.
2006 Main Street
Anderson, SC 29621
Phone: (864) 888-8887

Steven M. Krause, SC Bar # 3571
207 East Calhoun Street,
Anderson, SC 29621
Phone: (864) 225-4000

John S. Nichols, SC Bar # 4210
Bluestein Thompson Sullivan, LLC
1614 Taylor Street

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1. Whether the Circuit Court should have denied the Motion for Summary Judgment because Chavis provided sufficient evidence to create a genuine issue of material fact.**
- 2. Whether the Circuit Court erred in granting summary judgment by erroneously determining that Respondents had no statutory duties to Appellant to protect against the foreseeable injuries under the Alcohol and Alcoholic Beverages Licensing statutes.**
- 3. Whether the Circuit Court erred in granting summary judgment by erroneously determining the Alcohol and Alcoholic Beverages Licensing statutes could not apply to Respondent's agent or employee overserving themselves to the point of intoxication on the premises.**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action arises out of a motor vehicle wreck. Vansy Saensane consumed alcoholic beverages to the point of extreme intoxication at her place of work, Ra Cha, Inc., D/B/A Bangkok Tokyo Restaurant, before leaving in her vehicle and colliding with Appellant Kevin Chavis. The wreck caused serious injuries to Kevin Chavis.

Appellant filed suit against Vansy Saensane on January 13, 2020. Appellant filed an amended complaint on February 10, 2021 naming Bangkok Tokyo, LLC as a defendant. Pursuant to motion, Appellant amended his suit a second and final time on May 4, 2022 to name the appropriate corporate entity, Respondent Ra Cha, Inc., D/B/A Bangkok Tokyo Restaurant A/K/A Bangkok Thai Restaurant, as the employer of Vansy Saensane. (Second Amended Complaint, R. p. 21). Appellant sought recovery under the theories of, *inter alia*, Dram Shop liability; negligent retention and hiring; negligence as to Respondent Ra Cha, Inc.; negligence as to Respondent Saensane; and vicarious liability. (R. p. 19; R. p. 41). Respondent Ra Cha filed its Answer on May 19, 2022, arguing, *inter alia*, it owed no duty to the Appellant. (Answer to Second Amended Compl. ¶ 18, R. p. 34).

Respondent filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on October 18, 2022, seeking to have all claims against Respondent dismissed for failure to present a genuine issue of material fact. (R. p. 37). In particular, the motion prayed for Respondent to be dismissed as a party on the grounds that:

1. Respondent did not employ Saensane;
2. Respondent did not serve alcohol to Saensane on September 26, 2019;
3. Respondent cannot be vicariously liable for Saensane; and,
4. Respondent owed no duty to the Appellant as a third-party.

(R. p. 37; R. p. 55). The court heard the motion on January 27, 2023, and after having heard arguments of counsel and reviewing the submitted memoranda of counsel, the court granted the motion for summary judgment and dismissed all claims made by Appellant against Ra Cha, Inc. (Form 4 Order, R. p. 1; Order, R. p. 4).

Appellant filed a Motion to Reconsider, Alter, or Amend Judgment on February 20, 2023, seeking reinstatement of Appellant's causes of action against Respondent by challenging the Form 4 and Order under Rules 59 and 60, SCRCRCP. (Motion to Reconsider, R. p. 107). The grounds for the motion were, *inter alia*, the Appellant had pled specific facts sufficient to identify a genuine issue of material fact on whether Respondent served Saensane alcohol, Respondent should have reasonably foreseen the injuries to Appellant, Respondent employed Saensane, and whether Respondent was therefore the proximate cause of Appellant's injuries. (R. p. 120). The trial court denied Appellant's Motion to Reconsider and issued an Order and Form 4CE on March 7, 2023. (Form 4 Order, R. p. 16).

This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On September 27, 2019, at 12:56 a.m., Appellant Chavis was driving Southbound on North Pleasantburg Drive in Greenville, South Carolina, when Saensane, who was driving on the wrong side of the road, drove into Appellant, resulting in a head-on collision. (R. p. 22; R. pp. 55-56). Appellant suffered extensive injuries as a result of Respondent's and Saensane's actions. (R. p. 22).

The Respondent is a South Carolina corporation with its principal place of business located in Greenville County at 599 Haywood Road. (R. p. 55; R. p. 21; R. p. 144, lines 10-17). Respondent operates a restaurant that sells food, beer, and wine. (R. p. 55; R. p. 152, lines 12-21). Respondent

applied for, and obtained, an On-Premises Beer & Wine Permit (PBW) from the State of South Carolina, which authorizes the permit holder to sell and serve beer and wine on-premises. (R. p. 150, lines 1-24). Saensane considered herself an employee. (R. p. 152, line 24 – p. 153, line 6).

Saensane also considered herself a shareholder as she held a minority interest in Ra Cha, Inc., in common with her fiancée, Chai, as Joint Tenants with Rights of Survivorship. (Order, R. p. 4; R. p. 146, line 19 – p. 147, line 2; R. p. 148, lines 1-21; R. p. 148, line 25). Respondent Saensane and her fiancée acquired a fifty percent (50%) interest in Bangkok in August of 2017 in exchange for Respondent Saensane’s labor and sweat equity in the restaurant. (R. p. 144, lines 10-14; R. p. 146, lines 19-24; R. p. 147, lines 15-19). There is no evidence of any consideration paid for these corporate shares except Saensane’s testimony that her fiancée “paid to buy in. [She] worked there as a (sic) employee.” (R. p. 147, lines 15-19). The only other shareholder is the majority shareholder, Pouna Allison Wannarat. (R. p. 145, lines 4-18).

Vansy Saensane worked at Respondent Ra Cha, Inc., D/B/A/ Bangkok Thai beginning in 2017 and continuing through 2019. (R. p. 143, lines 13-17; R. p. 156, lines 4-24). Saensane was compensated in various ways during the time she worked at Ra Cha, Inc., with her initial compensation being a fixed Three Thousand Dollars per month. (R. p. 153, lines 2-13). Compensation was not predicated upon the shares owned by the shareholders as Saensane’s salary was reduced over time while her fiancée received no compensation for his shares. (R. p. 154, lines 8-17). Respondent paid Saensane less according to the amount of time she worked. (R. p. 153, lines 2-4). Saensane testified “[she] get[s] paid by monthly and it[] depend[s] on how the restaurant make[s] money.” (R. p. 153, lines 2-6).

Saensane did “pretty much everything” at Ra Cha, Inc., along with Allison. (R. p. 149, lines 11-17). Saensane interviewed employees, “[cooked] and, you know, [did] pretty much

everything.” (R. p. 149, lines 12-20). This included food preparation, cooking, and waitressing. (R. p. 149, lines 21-22; R. p. 160, line 1 – p. 161, line 17). Saensane usually arrived around 10:00 a.m. before the restaurant opened at 11:00 a.m. and worked through the lunch hour. (R. p. 159, lines 6-25). Saensane and Allison were the only two full-time staff working in the kitchen. (R. p. 160, lines 7-16).

After lunch service finished at 2:30 p.m., Saensane continued working to prepare for dinner service or would nap at the restaurant. (R. p. 161, line 23 – p. 162, line 22). Saensane’s workday generally continued past the end of dinner service at 9:00 p.m. and she would be the last to leave the restaurant. (R. p. 163, line 20 – p. 165, line 2). Saensane’s regular duties at the end of the day included paperwork, counting money, preparing for the next day’s food service, and any final cleanup. (R. p. 172, lines 13-20; p. 191, line 19 – p. 192, line 13). Saensane estimated she would generally leave between 10:00 p.m. and 11:00 p.m., sometimes even later depending upon what the restaurant required for the following day, testifying her departure was “not often after 11:00.” (R. p. 164, line 13 - p. 165, line 2). Saensane testified she remained at the restaurant until the preparations for the following business day were complete. (R. p. 163, line 22 – p. 165, line 6). Respondent Saensane testified that she drank wine while completing these last employment obligations before leaving: “I just drink by myself and do the paperwork. That’s – I remember.” (R. p. 168, line 25 - p. 169, line 2).

On September 26, 2019, Respondent Saensane had worked at the restaurant for both the lunch and dinner shifts. (R. p. 162, line 15 - p. 163, line 1). Normally, the business would close at 9:00 p.m., but Saensane could not recall what time the restaurant closed on September 26, 2019. (R. p. 163, line 20 - p. 164, line 3; p. 165, lines 1-20). Saensane “blanked out” after getting in the car after leaving that night. (R. p. 190, line 24 - p. 191, line 11). Saensane could not recall if it was

even “likely” she left before 11:00 p.m. that evening. (R. p. 192, lines 14-17). Saensane would not have eaten before drinking the wine as she either ate at home or did not eat dinner. (R. p. 194, lines 11-16).

Saensane testified she recalled having consumed alcohol while working at the restaurant on September 26, 2019, before she departed. (R. p. 166, lines 3-11). Saensane is unable to remember the number of drinks she served herself that evening. (R. p. 166, lines 15-20; p. 194, lines 4-10). Saensane did not know how many ounces each of Respondent’s wine glasses contained. (R. p. 188, line 20 - p. 189, line 4). Saensane testified she would consume “whatever we have in there that [is] open.” (R. p. 166, line 14). Saensane “testified that she drank wine from the restaurant . . . and served herself.” (Memorandum in Supp., R. p. 56). Saensane testified she would serve herself glasses of wine from the bottles of wine the Respondent had purchased as a PBW permit holder. (R. p. 167, lines 5-7). Saensane testified she was served glasses of wine by Respondent who had purchased those pursuant to its PBW permit. (R. p. 167, lines 12-23; p. 170, line 21 - p. 171, line 2).

Saensane testified the majority shareholder, Allison Wannarat, worked with her on September 26, 2019. (R. p. 169, lines 3-7). Allison instructed Saensane when she started working at the restaurant as Saensane had little training. (R. p. 186, lines 18-23).

Saensane further testified Allison had witnessed Saensane receive glasses of wine from Respondent’s stock of open wine (that had been sold to customers) while she did paperwork. (R. p. 169, lines 18-25). Allison did not attempt to stop or prohibit Saensane’s pattern of consuming Respondent’s wine stock while Saensane completed duties related to her employment. (R. p. 170, lines 1-4). Allison left the restaurant before Saensane on September 26, 2019, leaving Respondent unable to satisfy the duties and responsibilities owed to the general public pursuant to the Alcohol

and Alcoholic Beverages Licensing statutes. S.C. Code 61-4-10, *et seq.* (hereinafter, the “ABL statutes”). (R. p. 169, lines 3-7).

On September 26, 2019, numerous bottles of wine were purchased by the glass by customers of Respondent such that open bottles would have been readily available to Saensane unless Respondent took care. During her consumption of alcohol on Respondent’s premises, Saensane testified she did not have to pay for the glasses. (R. p. 170, lines 5-20). Saensane confirmed Respondent did not record, inventory, or monitor the service of glasses of wine to Saensane as she drank and completed the paperwork. (R. p. 170, lines 15-20). After Respondent provided an unknown and unrecorded number of free glasses of wine to Saensane on September 26, 2019, Respondent allowed Saensane to depart the restaurant. (R. p. 172, lines 4-8).

Saensane left the restaurant after having consumed these beverages but could not recall where she went prior to the collision at 12:56 a.m. (R. p. 172, lines 4-8; p. 172, line 24 – p. 173, line 5). Saensane testified to her custom of not going out as “[she] do[es not] really go places that much. I just work, come home. That’s it. That’s all I remember.” (R. p. 176, lines 2-5). There was no testimony disputing Saensane’s assertion she did not go anywhere between leaving Respondent’s premises and the motor vehicle collision site just down the road from Bangkok Tokyo. (R. p. 178, lines 1-14).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"When reviewing a grant of summary judgment, appellate courts apply the same standard applied by the trial court pursuant to Rule 56(c), SCRPC." *Knight v. Austin*, 396 S.C. 518, 521, 722 S.E.2d 802, 804 (2012) (citing *Turner v. Milliman*, 392 S.C. 116, 121-22, 708 S.E.2d 766, 769 (2011)). "On appeal from summary judgment, the reviewing court must consider the facts and inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party." *Cantrell v. Green*, 302 S.C. 557, 559, 397 S.E.2d 777, 778 (Ct. App. 1990) (citing *Cowburn v. Leventis*, 366 S.C. 20, 30, 619 S.E.2d 437, 443 (Ct. App. 2005)); *Hancock v. Mid-South Mgmt. Co.*, 381 S.C. 326, 330, 673 S.E.2d 801, 802 (2009) (citing *Koester v. Carolina Rental Ctr.*, 313 S.C. 490, 493, 443 S.E.2d 392, 394 (1994)); *see also*, *Spencer v. Miller*, 259 S.C. 453, 456, 192 S.E.2d 863, 864 (1972) (internal citations omitted) ("The underlying facts must be viewed in the light most favorable to the party opposing the motion."). All inferences and ambiguities must be construed against the movant and in favor of the non-moving party. *United States v. Diebold, Inc.*, 369 U.S. 654, 655 (1962); *see also*, *Cowburn v. Leventis*, 366 S.C. 20, 30, 619 S.E.2d 437, 443 (Ct. App. 2005).

Summary judgment is appropriate if there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Hancock v. Mid-South Mgmt. Co.*, 381 S.C. 326, 329, 673 S.E.2d 801, 802 (2009) (citing Rule 56(c), SCRPC). The moving party must clearly establish the absence of a triable issue of fact through the record. *Baughman v. Am. Tel. & Tel. Co.*, 306 S.C. 101, 115, 410 S.E.2d 537, 545 (1991). A court shall grant summary judgment if the non-moving party fails to establish the existence of an element essential to the party's case upon which the party will bear the burden of proof at trial. *Celotex Corp. v. Catrett*, 477 U.S. 317, 322 (1986) (citing Fed. R. Civ. P. 56, of which Rule 56, SCRPC is similar). *See also*, *Kitchen*

Planners, LLC, v. Samuel E. Friedman, et al., Op. No. 28173, (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed Aug. 23, 2023) (Howard Adv. Sh. No. 33 at 11).

Summary judgment is inappropriate when “further inquiry into the facts of the case is desirable to clarify the application of the law.” *USAA Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co. v. Clegg*, 377 S.C. 643, 653, 661 S.E.2d 791, 796 (2008) (citing *Middleborough Horizontal Prop. Regime Council of Co-Owners v. Montedison S.p.A.*, 320 S.C. 470, 479, 465 S.E.2d 765, 771 (Ct. App. 1995)). “Even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts, but only as to the conclusions or inferences to be drawn from them, summary judgment should be denied.” *Clegg*, 377 S.C. at 653, 661 S.E.2d at 796 (citing *Nelson v. Charleston Cnty. Parks & Rec. Comm’n*, 362 S.C. 1, 5, 605 S.E.2d 744, 746 (Ct. App. 2004)).

“[T]he proper standard is the ‘genuine issue of material fact’ . . . ‘it is not sufficient for a party to create an inference that is not reasonable or an issue of fact that is not genuine.’” *Kitchen Planners, LLC*, (quoting *Town of Hollywood v. Floyd*, 403 S.C. 466, 477, 744 S.E.2d 161, 166 (2013)). “In the language of the Rule, the nonmoving party must come forward with ‘specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial.’” *Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Corp.*, 475 U.S. 574, 587 (1986). The non-moving party need only provide “any evidence from which a jury could reasonably conclude” an essential element of the underlying claim. *Vereen v. Liberty Life Ins. Co.*, 306 S.C. 423, 432, 412 S.E.2d 425, 431 (Ct. App. 1991). Even if the evidence is “weak” or “susceptible of more than one reasonable inference,” summary judgment is inappropriate. *Id.*

ARGUMENT

The granting of summary judgment violated the principles of Rule 56(c) when the trial court ignored the substantial evidence demonstrating Respondent's employment of Saensane; Respondent's service of alcohol to Saensane at the restaurant; and Respondent's knowledge of Saensane's historical consumption of alcohol while on the job. The trial court further erred by finding Respondent owed no duty under the alcohol beverage licensing statutes to Appellant, the violation of these penal statutes being the proximate cause of Appellant's injuries.

There exist triable issues of material fact that the jury was denied from considering because the trial court ignored this evidence and misapplied the law when granting summary judgment in favor of Respondent.

I. The trial court erred in granting the Motion for Summary Judgment because there are genuine issues of material fact in dispute for the jury to consider and decide.

Summary judgment under Rule 56(c), SCRPC, required Appellant to present specific facts showing there is a genuine issue for trial. *Strickland v. Madden*, 323 S.C. 63, 68, 448 S.E.2d 581, 584 (Ct. App. 1994). As the Supreme Court articulated in *Kitchen Planners, LLC*, to clarify the appropriate standard under Rule 56(c), the non-moving party may sufficiently defend against summary judgment by creating an inference that is reasonable or raising an issue of fact that is genuine. (Howard Adv. Sh. No. 33 at 16) (citing *Town of Hollywood*, 403 S.C. at 477, 744 S.E.2d at 166)). Appellant presented ample evidence of disputed facts concerning whether Saensane was an employee or agent of Respondent to warrant the jury's determination as factfinder.

First, Appellant need not prove Saensane was a statutory employee of Respondent for dram shop liability to exist because the statutory scheme for Alcohol and Beverage Licensing in South

Carolina does not require this heightened standard. S.C. Code Ann. § 61-4-580(A)(2) (Supp. 2021) (“No holder of a permit authorizing the sale of beer or wine **or a servant, agent, or employee of the permittee** may knowingly commit any of the following acts upon the licensed premises covered by the holder's permit . . . sell beer or wine to an intoxicated person.”) (emphasis added). Even Saensane considered herself an employee of Respondent: “I worked there as a[n] employee.” (R. p. 147, lines 15-19). “Q: Are you, are you an employee of Bangkok Tokyo? A: Yes, sir.” (R. p. 152, line 24 - p. 153, line 6). The trial court erred by finding Saensane “was not sold or served wine by any employee” of Respondent because this went against the weight of the evidence. (Order, R. p. 7).

Appellant brought private causes of action arising from the violation of state criminal alcohol control statutes under Titles 12 and 61 of the South Carolina Code of Laws.¹ South Carolina does not have a dram shop statute, but litigants may still bring civil cases against the permit-holder for criminal violations of the alcohol beverage licensing statutory scheme established by the Legislature. *Hartfield v. Getaway Lounge & Grill, Inc.*, 388 S.C. 407, 417, 697 S.E.2d 558, 563 (2010) (citing *See Tobias v. Sports Club, Inc.*, 332 S.C. 90, 92, 504 S.E.2d 318, 319 (1998) (“Because South Carolina does not have a Dram Shop Act, our civil remedy arises out of criminal statutes.”)). South Carolina law therefore allows for a third-party to bring a private cause of action against a restaurant or other alcoholic beverage permit holder who violates the

¹ As a matter of orientation, the statutory violations are not derived directly from “The Alcoholic Beverage Control Act,” which regulates liquors and spirits, but rather are supplemented by the ABC Act. S.C. Code Ann. § 61-6-10 (2021), *et seq.*

“alcoholic beverage control statutes and regulations” *Marcum v. Bowden*, 372 S.C. 452, 459, 643 S.E.2d 85, 89 (2007).

ABL Licensing is an exhaustive statutory scheme deeming the Department of Revenue for the State of South Carolina “the sole and exclusive authority empowered to regulate the operation of all locations authorized to sell beer, wine . . . authorized to establish conditions or restrictions which the department considers necessary . . . **and occupies the entire field of beer, wine, and liquor regulation**” S.C. Code Ann. § 61-2-80 (2009) (emphasis added). No individual may sell beer or wine without a valid license. S.C. Code Ann. § 61-4-150 (1996).

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