THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM
GREENVILLE COUNTY COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

The Honorable Letitia H. Verdin, Circuit Court Judge

Appeal No.: 2023-000440

Kevin Dwayne Chavis,Appellant,

v.

Vansy Saensane and Ra Cha, Inc. d/b/a Bangkok

Tokyo Restaurant a/k/a Bangkok Thai Restaurant, Respondents.

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT RA CHA, INC. D/B/A
BANGKOK TOKYO RESTAURANT A/K/A
BANGKOK THAI RESTAURANT**

McANGUS GOUDELOCK & COURIE, LLC
Helen F. Hiser
P.O. Box 650007
Mount Pleasant, South Carolina 29465
(843) 576-2900
helen.hiser@mgclaw.com

Zachary S. Brown
P.O. Box 2980
Greenville, South Carolina 29602
(864) 239-4000
zachary.brown@mgclaw.com

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

ARGUMENT

I. A majority of Appellant’s arguments are not preserved for appellate review.

Appellant raises a number of arguments that were never presented to the circuit court and, therefore, are unpreserved for appellate review. For example, while Appellant relies on a host of statutory and regulatory provisions on appeal, he did not cite a single statute or regulation in his Second Amended Complaint, and the only statutory provisions Appellant cited in either his Opposition or Motion for Reconsideration were S.C. Code Ann. § 61-4-580(A)(2) (formerly codified at S.C. Code Ann. § 61-9-410), and former S.C. Code Ann. § 61-5-30 (now codified at S.C. Code Ann. § 61-6-2220). Section 61-4-580(A)(2) provides, in

³ Contrary to Appellant’s assertion, *Vereen v. Liberty Life Ins. Co.*, 306 S.C. 423, 412 S.E.2d 425 (Ct. App. 1991), does not stand for the proposition that summary judgment is inappropriate even if the evidence in opposition is “weak.” Instead, the standard properly applied in *Vereen* was whether there is “evidence from which a jury could *reasonably* conclude” in the nonmoving party’s favor. 306 S.C. at 432, 412 S.E.2d at 431 (emphasis added). The evidence this Court found sufficient in *Vereen* to withstand a motion for directed verdict consisted of testimony of a police officer who observed the crime scene, as well as photographic evidence of the crime scene. *Id.* This hardly is “weak” evidence. Appellant’s misinterpretation of *Vereen* appears to be an attempt to circumvent or soften the South Carolina Supreme Court’s recent decision rejecting the “mere scintilla” standard and affirming the “genuine issue of material fact” standard under Rule 56(c), SCRCF. *Kitchen Planners*, 440 S.C. at 463, 892 S.E.2d at 301.

pertinent part, that, “[n]o holder of a permit authorizing the sale of beer or wine or a servant, agent, or employee of the permittee may *knowingly* ... (2) *sell* beer or wine to an *intoxicated person*.” S.C. Code Ann. § 61-4-580(A)(2) (emphasis added). Section 61-6-2220 provides that, “[a] person or establishment licensed to sell alcoholic liquors or liquor by the drink pursuant to this article may not *sell* these beverages to persons in an *intoxicated condition*; these sales are considered violations of the provisions thereof and subject to the penalties contained herein.” S.C. Code Ann. § 61-6-2220 (emphasis added). As is discussed in more detail below, both provisions require a *sale* of beer, wine or liquor to an intoxicated person. There is no evidence of a “sale” of any alcoholic beverages here.

Appellant asserts on appeal that he “brought private causes of action arising from the violation of state criminal alcohol control statutes under Titles 12 and 61 of the South Carolina Code of Laws.” (App. Br. p. 11). However, there is not a single reference to Titles 12 and/or 61 of the South Carolina Code of Laws in Appellant’s Second Amended Complaint and, as noted above, not single reference to any specific statute or regulation. Instead, as he did in his other pleadings filed below, Appellant only vaguely referenced “licenses issued by the State of South Carolina to serve alcohol to the general public,” “state liquor law,” “South Carolina law and regulations,” that are intended to protect persons such as Appellant, and “the laws of the State of South Carolina.” (2d Amd. Compl., R. pp. 21-22, 26-28 ¶¶ 3, 22, 28, 29, 31). To the extent the substance of any of Appellant’s allegations can be construed to assert a violation of any statute or regulation, the only one that reasonably could be identified is S.C. Code Ann. § 61-4-580, formerly S.C. Code § 61-9-410, which is addressed herein. None of the other statutes or regulations cited and relied on in Appellant’s Brief were raised

to or ruled on by the court below. They are not preserved for appellate review and should be disregarded.

Appellant's myriad references to other statutory provisions addressing the regulation, taxation and sale of alcohol are, therefore, unpreserved for appellate review. An argument raised on appeal that is based on different grounds from the argument presented to the trial court is not preserved for appeal. *Creighton v. Coligny Plaza Ltd. P'ship*, 334 S.C. 96, 108, 512 S.E.2d 510, 516 (Ct. App. 1998), citing *Schofield v. Richland County Sch. Dist.*, 316 S.C. 78, 82, 447 S.E.2d 189, 191 (1994). Although Appellant asserted generally in its Opposition that "the duties owed to the Plaintiff by the Defendant arise out of the S.C. Code of Laws, Ann., 1976, as amended, and as those statutes have been interpreted and applied by the Courts of this State," (Opposition p. 3), and in its Motion for Reconsideration that "[t]here are a number of SC Code sections that have been enacted by the South Carolina Legislature related to the sale, distribution, and consumption of alcohol that are penal in nature, but which have been interpreted to impose civil liability upon those that violate these statutes," (Motion for Reconsideration p. 9), such vague statements do not preserve any argument on appeal beyond the two statutes mentioned in those pleadings. Even if they did, which is denied, the only statutory provisions the circuit court ruled on were S.C. Code Ann. § 61-4-580(A)(2) and S.C. Code Ann. § 61-5-30 (now codified at S.C. Code Ann. § 61-6-2220). In order to be preserved for appellate review, the various statutory provisions would have to have been raised to and ruled on by the lower court. *E.g., Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998) ("It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for

the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review”).⁴

Appellant also suggests on appeal that summary judgment was premature because “the full scope of statutory and regulatory violations is premature due to the ongoing discovery and litigation.” (App. Br. p. 15). In addition to being incorrect, this issue is unpreserved because Appellant did not argue below that summary judgment should be delayed and/or that he needed additional discovery. *E.g.*, *Schofield*, 316 S.C. at 82, 447 S.E.2d at 191 (an issue “not raised to or ruled on by the trial judge ... is not properly before this Court”).

This Court should disregard Appellant’s unpreserved issues and arguments.

II. The circuit court properly granted Bangkok summary judgment on Appellant’s Negligence and Dram Shop causes of action.

The circuit court correctly held that Bangkok was entitled to summary judgment on both the negligence and dram shop causes of action because there is no evidence that it sold or served Saensane alcohol on September 26, 2019, rejecting Appellant’s attempts to broaden the language of S.C. Code Ann. § 61-4-580 to reach the facts of this case. Because South Carolina does not have a so-called “dram shop act,” Appellant’s civil causes of action must be based on a “violation of a penal statute” such as S.C. Code § 61-4-580. *Tobias v. Sports Club*, 323 S.C. 345, 348-350, 474 S.E.2d 450, 452-453 (Ct. App. 1996). Appellant has not and cannot demonstrate that Bangkok violated any statute (or regulation) that would support his private causes of action. Consequently, summary judgment was proper and Appellant presents no facts or arguments on appeal that reasonably call that ruling into question.

⁴ Nonetheless, and out of an abundance of caution, Bangkok addresses these provisions below, none of which justify overturning the circuit court.

In fact, much of Appellant’s discussion on pages 12-19, 21-23 of his Brief not only is unpreserved for appellate review, but also is irrelevant and/or unpersuasive. As an initial matter, it is not disputed that the public policy underlying the extension of tort liability to a restaurant or bar that knowingly sells alcohol to an intoxicated person pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 61-4-580(A)(2), is to promote public safety. However, here, there is no evidence nor can there be a reasonable inference from the evidence that Bangkok sold any alcohol to Saensane on September 26, 2019, and Appellant’s contorted attempts to equate Saensane’s consumption with a sale by Bangkok are unavailing.⁵ Even the almost two-centuries old case cited by Appellant, *Harrison v. Berkley*, 32 S.C.L. (1 Strob.) 525 (1847), involved the *sale* of alcohol to an enslaved person, pointing out “the financial advantage inuring to the merchant ... through the *sale* of his goods to the slave.” (App. Br. p. 16 (emphasis added)). Here, there simply is no evidence that Bangkok “sold” any alcohol to Saensane on September 26, 2019, and certainly no evidence of a knowing sale of alcohol to an intoxicated person.

Both below and on appeal, Appellant urges an incongruous broadening of the term “sell” in his attempt to cover the facts of this case. However, “[w]ords used in a statute must be given their plain and ordinary meaning without resort to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand the operation of the statute.” *Richland County Sch. Dist. Two v. S.C. Dep’t of Educ.*, 335 S.C. 491, 496, 517 S.E.2d 444, 447 (Ct. App. 1999). The circuit court correctly held as a matter of law that the words of S.C. Code Ann. § 61-4-580(A)(2) “are plain and unambiguous and clearly prohibit a permittee from selling alcohol to an intoxicated individual. If the legislature intended to use a word other than ‘sell’ to capture the activity of

⁵ On appeal, Appellant engages in new attempts to equate Saensane pouring herself a glass or two of wine on occasion to Bangkok “selling” her alcohol. In particular, Appellant suggests that the wine Saensane drank already had been “sold to customers,” in a nonsensical and unsuccessful attempt to bring this case within the ambit of S.C. Code Ann. § 61-4-580(A)(2).

restaurants giving away alcohol, it could have done so.” (Order, R. p. 8). In other words, had the legislature intended to penalize or prohibit the mere consumption of wine, or of a co-owner serving herself a glass or two of wine, it easily could have done so. *E.g.*, *Seels v. Smalls*, 437 S.C. 167, 181, 877 S.E.2d 351, 348 (2022) (if the General Assembly intended a result, it could have included language effectuating that result and, where it has not done so, “principles of statutory interpretation do not favor implying such a result in the absence of any indicia that this was, in fact, the General Assembly’s intent”); *Allied Corp. v. S.C. Tax Comm’n*, 288 S.C. 197, 204, 341 S.E.2d 139, 143 (1986) (noting that if the General Assembly had intended to create certain deductions for drilling costs, “it could easily have” included language to that effect). But it did not and Appellant’s attempts to read into the statute language that is not there are futile, ineffective, and should be rejected.

Appellant argues on one hand, that a permit holder “may still violate the ABL Statutes without a sale in the traditional sense,” and or without requiring “two distinct individuals,” (App. Br. pp. 16, 18, 19, 21, 23 (asserting the jury should have been allowed to determine whether “Respondent [*i.e.*, Saensane] allowed Saensane to leave the premises in a severely intoxicated state”); p. 25 (asserting Respondent is liable because it allowed its agent, Saensane, “to violate the ABL licensing statutes through the overservice of Saensane”)), while, on the other hand, he attempts to equate Saensane pouring herself a glass of wine to a “sale” (*Id.* pp. 17, p. 22 (by suggesting that, although “Saensane did not directly pay for the drinks,” she may have paid indirectly somehow)). Both arguments fall short and reveal the contorted reasoning and absurd factual assumptions required to bring this case within S.C. Code Ann. § 61-4-580(A)(2) and South Carolina precedent.

Apparently recognizing the flaws in his argument, Appellant then embarks on a discussion of alcohol licensing and taxation in order to make the point that a holder of an ABL permit *can* “violate the ABL statutes without a sale in the traditional sense of the exchange of monies for drinks.” (App. Br. pp. 16-17). As noted in Section I, none of these licensing and taxation statutes or regulations were raised below and, consequently, none are preserved for appellate review. *Creighton*, 334 S.C. at 108, 512 S.E.2d at 516; *Schofield*, 316 S.C. at 82, 447 S.E.2d at 191. Moreover, even if they were preserved, which they are not, Appellant is not in the class of persons whom any of these statutes or regulations was designed to protect. *Whitlaw v. Kroger Co.*, 306 S.C. 51, 53, 410 S.E.2 251, 252 (1991) (as Appellant acknowledges, a plaintiff “must show ‘that the essential purpose of the statute is to protect from the kind of harm the plaintiff has suffered; and ... that he is a member of the class of persons the statute is intended to protect’”).

As this Court pointed out in *Brooks*, “the primary rule of statutory construction is to give statutes their plain and ordinary meaning where the statute’s language is unambiguous.” 327 S.C. at 406, 489 S.E.2d at 650, citing *Adkins v. Varn*, 312 S.C. 188, 191, 439 S.E.2d 822, 824 (1993); *see also Seels*, 437 S.C. at 176, 877 S.E.2d at 356 (“The plain language of a statute is the best evidence of the legislature’s intent”). Patently, “courts must not resort to forced construction to limit or expand a statute’s operation,” *Brooks*, 327 S.C. at 407, 489 S.E.2d at 650, which is precisely what Appellant asked the circuit court and is asking this Court to do.⁶ However, the term “sell” in S.C. Code Ann. § 61-4-580(A)(2) is clear and unambiguous and should be interpreted and applied pursuant to its normal and customary meaning. “When the terms of [a] statute are clear and unambiguous, the court must apply

⁶ *See* Order, R. pp. 7-8; Motion to Reconsider, R. p. 99; App. Br. p. 17.

them according to their literal meaning.” *State v. Blackmon*, 304 S.C. 270, 273, 403 S.C.2d 660, 663 (1991). This is particularly so when the statute is penal in nature. *Id.* Much of Appellant’s Brief is a creative albeit unpersuasive attempt to convince this Court to expand not only the term “sell” in section 61-4-580(A)(2), but to impose liability on Bangkok based on a host of unrelated statutes that touch upon licensing and taxing the sale of alcohol by restaurants such as Bangkok.

Appellant then veers off into a discussion of S.C. Code Regs. §§ 7-701 and 7-702.1, which govern restrictions on the sale and delivery of beer and wine. Without explanation or context, Appellant suggests that, pursuant to S.C. Code Regs. 7-702.1, because Saensane poured herself a glass or two of wine on September 26, 2019 while she was performing closing and bookkeeping functions, the circuit court erred in finding there was no “no evidence of any transaction or sale of any alcohol by” Bangkok to Saensane. (App. Br. p. 17). However, that code provision, which has no bearing on this case whatsoever, provides in pertinent part, that “[a]ny beer or wine sold, offered for sale or delivered to anyone from any licensed place of business or the removal therefrom of any beer or wine *between the hours of twelve o’clock Saturday night and sunrise Monday morning* is a violation against the beer and wine permit Any delivery or removal of beer or wine *between these restrictive hours* shall be prima facie evidence that a sale was made.” S.C. Code Regs. 7-702.1 (emphasis added). September 26, 2019 was a Thursday, not a Saturday or Sunday and, moreover, there is no evidence that Saensane consumed any wine while on Bangkok’s premises after midnight that night. Consequently, as is the case with Appellant’s

unpreserved discussions of other statutory and regulatory provisions,⁷ this argument is nothing more than a red herring, proffered as embellishment and/or as a diversion in a case where Appellant cannot present any material facts that are in dispute.

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